NO. 45789-0-II

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BOBBY JERREL SMITH II,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CLALLAM COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

NANCY P. COLLINS
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION.

Robert Fowler came into Bobby Jerrell Smith's home uninvited, demanded money, and threatened to cut Mr. Smith's throat while brandishing a knife. Mr. Smith feared for his life and shot Mr. Fowler several times, killing him. After charging Mr. Smith with murder, the prosecution insisted Mr. Smith could not offer evidence about how prior traumatic experiences affected him because the legal test for self-defense did not include his subjective perspective. Although this was the wrong legal standard, the court agreed. The court also let a police detective give his opinion that Mr. Smith was lying about having been threatened with a knife despite Mr. Smith's objection.

When the jury convicted Mr. Smith, the Department of Corrections investigated the case and asked the court to impose a lesser sentence based on his imperfect efforts to defend himself from an intruder in his home. The court refused based on its belief that it would be disregarding the jury's verdict to impose below the standard range.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. The court denied Mr. Smith his Sixth Amendment right to present a defense and Fourteenth Amendment right receive a fair trial

by barring information relevant to showing his belief he was acting in self-defense.

2. The court violated Mr. Smith's state and federal constitutional rights to a fair trial by jury when admitting a detective's opinions about the State's evidence and Mr. Smith's veracity.

3. The court improperly refused to give a limiting instruction when admitting a police detective's opinions about the case.

4. Cumulative error denied Mr. Smith a fair trial.

5. The court misapplied the law and failed to exercise its discretion when denying Mr. Smith's request to impose a sentence below the standard range.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. Whether a person justifiably acts in self-defense is measured by his perception that such force was necessary coupled with how a reasonable person would have acted when standing in his shoes.

Misrepresenting self-defense as only how a reasonable person would act, the prosecution convinced the court that Mr. Smith's subjective beliefs were irrelevant and the court limited evidence that Mr. Smith had suffered a prior traumatic incident that affected his feelings when Mr. Fowler threatened him in his living room. Did the court's ruling

barring evidence of experiences affecting how Mr. Smith reacted when threatened by an intruder violate his right to present a defense?

2. No witness may offer opinions on the veracity of the accused and opinions offered by a police officer are particularly prone to influencing the jury. A police detective said Mr. Smith's explanation of the incident was scientifically impossible and could not be true. Over Mr. Smith's objection, the detective's opinions were admitted for their truth, without any limiting instruction, even though his opinions involved disputed facts and inaccurate scientific theories. Did the court's admission of opinion testimony by a police detective invade the province of the jury and deny Mr. Fowler a fair trial?

3. A court is authorized to impose a sentence below the standard range based on mitigating factors such as having acted in self-defense, not provoking the incident, or having a mental disorder. The Department of Corrections joined Mr. Smith's request for an exceptional sentence below the standard range based on the unprovoked intrusion into Mr. Smith's home that caused him to believe he needed to defend himself from deadly force. But the court refused because the jury had not found Mr. Smith acted in self-defense. Did the court

misunderstand its authority to impose a sentence below the standard range and reject the request based on the wrong legal standard?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

In 2011, 58-year-old B.J. Smith lived with his developmentally disabled daughter and they kept to themselves. 10/14/13RP 42. Mr. Smith was honorably discharged from the Navy after suffering from post-traumatic stress disorder that left him with severe nightmares and an inability to handle stressful situations. 10/10/13RP 40, 54; 10/14/13RP 39; CP 114.

Mr. Smith met Robert Fowler a few months before this incident. 10/14/13RP 42. Mr. Fowler told Mr. Smith he had been in prison five times, once for assaulting a girlfriend with a machete and another time for armed robbery. *Id.* at 44. He also claimed to have been a Marine who served in Vietnam, where he described killing people by cutting their throats. *Id.* at 43. More recently, Mr. Fowler was arrested when he stabbed his own mattress because he imagined there was an intruder inside it. Ex. 59 at 3; 10/14/13RP 46. Mr. Smith suspected Mr. Fowler was delusional and offered to get him help from the Veteran's Administration where Mr. Smith received aid for his post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). Ex. 59 at 3-4. Mr. Smith grew "more and more

afraid” of Mr. Fowler and warned him “do not come over any more” because Mr. Smith had “bad PTSD” and Mr. Fowler’s visits were “stressin’ me out.” Ex. 59 at 3, 7.

On June 20, 2011, Mr. Fowler came to Mr. Smith’s home, knocked forcefully, and asked for beer and \$20. Ex. 59 at 7, 13. Mr. Smith told him he could not come in, but Mr. Fowler begged and Mr. Smith relented. 10/14/13RP 51. Once inside, Mr. Fowler told Mr. Smith, “you have the money, I know you do. You’re rich.” Ex. 59 at 7. When Mr. Smith refused, Mr. Fowler grabbed a knife resting on a table and said, “Now give me money or I’ll cut your throat.” *Id.* Mr. Smith had a concealed weapons permit and was carrying a gun under his clothes. Ex. 59 at 10; 10/14/13RP 50. He pulled out his gun, but Mr. Fowler said, “I’m not scared of that! And he kept comin’ toward” Mr. Smith. Ex. 59 at 7; 10/14/13RP 53.

Afraid for his life, Mr. Smith fired the gun. Ex. 59 at 14-15. Mr. Smith thought he missed because he saw Mr. Fowler continue moving while holding the knife. Ex. 59 at 15-16. Mr. Smith fired again but thought he only “nicked” Mr. Fowler, who turned and started moving upstairs where Mr. Smith’s daughter was asleep. Ex. 59 at 16. Mr. Smith said, “there’s no way you’re getting to my daughter,” and fired

three more shots. Ex. 59 at 17-19. He “never saw any of my rounds hit” Mr. Fowler until the last shot, which he aimed at Mr. Fowler’s head because he feared Mr. Fowler was still threatening him with a knife and capable of hitting him with it. Ex. 59 at 19-20, 22, 29. Throughout the incident, Mr. Fowler still had the knife in his hand, causing Mr. Smith to be “afraid for my life and my daughter’s life.” Ex. 59 at 29. Mr. Smith had been taught in the military that when under the threat of deadly force, he must shoot until the threat ended, stopping the situation. Ex. 59 at 17, 54-55.

The entire incident was “very quick”; it was “a few seconds of absolute terror” and “a complete blur” to Mr. Smith. 10/14/13RP 53-54. Mr. Smith immediately called 911 and waited for police as directed. *Id.* at 57. He consistently described this incident to several police officers in multiple recorded interviews. Ex. 59, Ex. 95A, Ex. 103.

Mr. Smith was charged with first degree intentional murder. CP 94. At his trial, forensic pathologist Daniel Selove described five bullets that entered Mr. Fowler’s body, some exiting and reentering the body, which caused his death. 10/10/13RP 152. Mr. Fowler appeared to have been hit first in his shoulder, non-fatally, and then in his chest, ear, and head, with bullets traveling different paths in his body. 10/10/13RP

153, 155-58, 175. It was likely that two bullets fired close in time caused most injuries and Dr. Selove thought that the direction of the blood loss indicated he was lying down when the last two bullets were fired. 10/10/13RP 165, 171-72.

The State theorized that Mr. Fowler could not have been holding a knife as Mr. Smith said because there appeared to be blood on Mr. Fowler's hand and yet his blood was not on the knife. 10/14/13RP 10, 123. There was some DNA on the knife, but the partial profile could not exclude either Mr. Smith or Mr. Fowler, and the knife belonged to Mr. Smith. 10/10/13RP 88-89. Detective Kevin Spencer told the jury that it was "scientifically" impossible for Mr. Fowler to have been holding the knife based on the lack of blood on the knife; this opinion was admitted despite Mr. Smith's objection. Ex. 100 at 15-17; 10/2/13RP 2-4, 7. Dr. Selove said he had not tested Mr. Fowler's hands to determine whether the substance on his hands was blood. 10/10/13RP 173.

Mr. Fowler's girlfriend, Karla Pennington, and her brother said Mr. Fowler appeared to be in a good mood earlier in the day, although they were not present at the time of the incident. 10/9/13RP 91-92, 95

Mr. Fowler had marijuana in his system but the forensic investigators did not know when he consumed it. 10/14/13RP 13.

The jury convicted Mr. Smith of second degree murder as a lesser included offense. CP 21. Mr. Smith asked the court for an exceptional sentence below the standard range because he was defending himself against a threatening intruder in his home, as well as his lack of predisposition, as shown by his lack of criminal history, honorable military service, and age. 1/14/14RP 22-26. Several community members spoke on his behalf and the Department of Corrections concurred with Mr. Smith's sentencing recommendation. 1/14/14RP 26-30; CP 117-18. The court refused because it believed that it would be disregarding the jury's verdict to use Mr. Smith's self-defense as the basis for a lesser sentence. 1/14/14RP 37, 40.

E. ARGUMENT.

1. **By using the wrong legal standard governing self-defense to bar evidence about Mr. Smith's point of view and refusing to limit a police officer's unscientific lay opinions about disputed evidence, the court denied Mr. Smith a fair trial.**

The "constitutional floor" established by the Due Process Clause "clearly requires a fair trial in a fair tribunal" before an unbiased court. *Bracy v. Gramley*, 520 U.S. 899, 904-05, 117 S. Ct. 1793, 1797, 138 L.

Ed. 2d 97 (1997); U.S. Const. amend. 14; Wash. Const. art. I, § 3, 21, 22. The right to a fair trial includes the right to present a defense, which means, “at a minimum . . . the right to put before a jury evidence that might influence the determination of guilt.” *Pennsylvania v. Ritchie*, 480 U.S. 39, 56, 107 S.Ct. 989, 94 L.Ed.2d 40 (1987).

Erroneous evidentiary rulings violate due process by depriving the defendant of a fundamentally fair trial. *Estelle v. McGuire*, 502 U.S. 62, 75, 112 S.Ct. 475, 116 L.Ed.2d 385 (1991); *Dowling v. United States*, 493 U.S. 342, 352, 107 L. Ed. 2d 708, 110 S. Ct. 668 (1990) (improper evidentiary rulings deprive a defendant of due process where it is so unfair as to “violate[] fundamental conceptions of justice”).

Numerous erroneous court rulings throughout the course of Mr. Smith’s trial denied him his right to a fair trial, as detailed below.

- a. *Using the wrong legal standard, the court impermissibly refused to admit evidence relevant to Mr. Smith’s defense.*
 - i. *Self-defense is judged from the defendant’s point of view.*

The right to bear arms in self-defense is “deeply rooted” and “fundamental” to our concept of liberty. *McDonald v. City of Chicago, Ill.*, 561 U.S. ___, 130 S. Ct. 3020, 3036-37, 177 L. Ed. 2d 894 (2010);

State v. Sieyes, 168 Wn.2d 276, 292, 225 P.3d 99 (2010); U.S. Const. amends. 2, 14; Art. I, § 24 (“The right of the individual citizen to bear arms in defense of himself, or the state, shall not be impaired.”)

It is a “well-settled principle in Washington” that the jury must view self-defense from the conditions as they appeared to the defendant. *State v. Walden*, 131 Wn.2d 469, 474, 932 P.2d 1237 (1997). The prosecution bears the burden of disproving, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the defendant reasonably believed force was necessary to defend himself against imminent bodily harm. *Id.* at 473.

Self-defense has subjective and objective components. The jury “must place itself in the defendant’s shoes and view the defendant’s acts in light of all the facts and circumstances the defendant knew when the act occurred.” *State v. Read*, 147 Wn.2d 238, 243, 53 P.3d 26 (2002).

[Jurors are to] put themselves in the place of the appellant, get the point of view which he had at the time of the tragedy, and view the conduct of the [deceased] with all its pertinent sidelights as the appellant was warranted in viewing it. In no other way could the jury safely say what a reasonably prudent [person] similarly situated would have done.

State v. Janes, 121 Wn.2d 220, 238, 850 P.2d 495 (1993) (quoting *State v. Wanrow*, 88 Wn.2d 221, 235–36, 559 P.2d 548 (1977)).

As explained in *Janes*, self-defense is premised on the defendant's own experiences, even those experiences that occurred earlier in time:

the jury is entitled to stand as nearly as practicable in the shoes of [the] defendant, and from this point of view determine the character of the act. Also, the jury is to consider the defendant's actions in light of *all* the facts and circumstances known to the defendant, even those substantially predating the killing. The self-defense evaluation is objective in that the jury is to use this information in determining "what a reasonably prudent [person] similarly situated would have done.

121 Wn.2d at 238 (internal citations omitted). The subjective component of self-defense ensures "the jury fully understands the totality of the defendant's actions from the defendant's own perspective." *Id.* at 239.

ii. *The prosecution convinced the court to bar evidence showing Mr. Smith's point of view based on the wrong legal standard.*

Insisting the legal standard for self-defense asks only what a "reasonable person" would do, the prosecution moved to limit evidence about Mr. Smith's personal experiences and mental state, claiming this information was irrelevant and misleading. 9/19/13RP 59; CP 126-28. The premise of the prosecution's argument was that there is no

“subjective standard to self-defense,” only the “reasonable person” test.
10/7/13RP 21.

As *Janes* explains, the “objective” component of self-defense asks “what a reasonably prudent [person] similarly situated would have done.” 121 Wn.2d at 238. But the prosecution ignored the equally important subjective prong entitles the jury to “determine the character of the act” from the defendant’s point of view, “in light of *all* the facts and circumstances known to the defendant.” *Id.* (emphasis in original); *see generally State v. Corn*, 95 Wn.App. 41, 53, 975 P.2d 520 (1999) (reversing conviction where jury instruction “misstated the subjective nature of the self-defense analysis”); 11 Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury Instr. Crim. WPIC 2.04.01 (3d Ed) (“a defendant's actions are to be judged against his or her own subjective impressions rather than those that a detached jury might determine to be objectively reasonable”).

Subjectively, how PTSD affected the accused’s viewpoint is a pertinent, admissible consideration in a self-defense case. *See, e.g., State v. Green*, __ Wn.App. __, 328 P.3d 998, 997 (2014) (well-established that “PTSD can affect a person’s perception” and is relevant in a self-defense case). As a lay witness, Mr. Smith’s perceptions of his mental state, colored by his prior experiences in life-threatening

situations and his belief that stressful situations make him crumble, would be helpful to understanding his point of view and relevant to determining the justification for his actions. ER 701; ER 403.

Despite the established subjective standard of measuring whether a person acted justifiably in self-defense, the prosecution insisted that Mr. Smith's discussion of PTSD was entirely irrelevant and it was "concerned" that if the jury heard this evidence, Mr. Smith might "argue there is a subjective standard to self-defense." 10/7/13RP 21. It further asserted that the only vehicle for Mr. Smith to explain how PTSD affected him would be through expert testimony. *Id.* Mr. Smith did not plan on offering an expert to discuss PTSD, but expected to elicit evidence that Mr. Smith's actions were affected by his prior experiences, including his impression of how PTSD affected him. 10/7/13RP 16, 17. He argued that this information was part of "how he sees the world" and it was relevant to his intent and his relationship with Mr. Fowler. *Id.* at 16-17, 20.

Based on the State's incorrect explanation of the law, the court redacted a significant portion of Mr. Smith's interview with Detective Spencer and prohibited Mr. Smith from explaining how PTSD affected his actions. 10/7/13RP 18-19. The excised portion of Mr. Smith's

statement to Detective Spencer included Mr. Smith's explanation of how he felt during the incident. Ex. 95A at 19.

In the redacted portion of the interview, Mr. Smith said his PTSD arose from a near death experience while serving on a submarine in the Navy, which he saw as "closely related" to this incident. Ex. 95A at 19. He felt he was similarly "faced with imminent death" during the submarine incident as when confronted by Mr. Fowler. *Id.* Trying to save his life on the submarine was "similar, because I was faced with imminent death . . . and I was forced to take action to attempt to save my life and then, the life of my daughter." *Id.*

He also explained how he followed his military training during the incident, having been trained to stop a lethal threat. Ex. 95A at 26. In the military, they would "train, train, train, train" so they would respond to danger instinctively. *Id.* On the submarine, he knew immediately how to handle danger, without asking a supervisor, and likewise, when Mr. Fowler confronted him with a knife and threatened to cut Mr. Smith's throat, Mr. Smith's "training" was to "draw your weapon . . . the number one reason for use of deadly force is imminent death to your own person." *Id.* at 27.

To understand Mr. Smith's perspective when confronted by Mr. Fowler, it was necessary to understand his military experience, including the stressful situation that left him disabled. His prior traumatic experiences on the submarine in the Navy caused him to "crumble" in routine situations, such that he could not hold a job even though he appeared healthy on the outside. Ex. 95A at 13. Mr. Smith said he had to "constantly" tell himself he was not on the submarine anymore. *Id.* at 32.

His explanations to the detective about having post-traumatic stress was not akin to an expert's diagnosis of a mental defense, because he considered his PTSD as a physical disorder stemming from a prior traumatic experience and he had no other mental disorders. Ex. 95A at 13, 20-21. Having PTSD was an experience that profoundly affected him and shaped how he conducted his life, including living quietly, keeping to himself, and guarding against his nightmares. By keeping him from explaining this aspect of his point of view at the time of the incident, the court did not let the jury hear critical information for assessing his conduct. *See Janes*, 121 Wn.2d at 239 ("by learning of the defendant's perceptions and the circumstances surrounding the act, the jury is able to make the 'critical determination . . . seeing what he sees

and knowing what he knows”) (quoting *Wanrow*, 88 Wn.2d at 238; emphasis added in *Janes*).

The jury was entitled to stand in Mr. Smith’s shoes, knowing all he knew, which included his present-day feelings of fear and vulnerability arising from his previous experiences with life-threatening trauma. Information affecting his perspective was an essential part of his right to present a defense.

The right to present a defense prohibits a judge from limiting the defendant’s elicitation of relevant evidence about the incident. *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 721, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). Evidence relevant to a theory of defense may be barred only where it is of a character that undermines the fairness of the trial. *State v. Darden*, 145 Wn.2d 612, 621, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002). The State bears the burden of showing that the evidence is “so prejudicial as to disrupt the fact-finding process at trial.” *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 720 (quoting *Darden*, 145 Wn.2d at 622). For evidence of high probative value, “no state interest can be compelling enough to preclude its introduction consistent with the Sixth Amendment and Const. art. I, § 22.” *Id.*

The court’s ruling denied Mr. Smith his right to “put before a jury evidence that might influence the determination of guilt.” *Ritchie*,

480 U.S. at 56. The jury was required to view the evidence from Mr. Smith's perspective to determine whether Mr. Smith acted in self-defense, yet the court excluded relevant, material evidence that explained Mr. Smith's subjective perspective.

b. *The court impermissibly admitted a police officer's opinions about the strength of the evidence and untrue scientific conclusions and refused to give a limiting instruction.*

i. *A police officer's opinions about the plausibility of the defense are generally inadmissible.*

Generally, witnesses are barred from giving opinions about the accused person's credibility, guilt, or strength of the evidence. *State v. Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d 577, 591, 183 P.3d 267 (2008). Police officers carry an "aura of reliability" when testifying. *Id.* at 595. Opinions voiced by police officers are "especially prone to influence" jurors. *State v. Demery*, 144 Wn.2d 753, 772, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001) (Sanders, J., dissenting); *see also State v. Barr*, 123 Wn.App. 373, 384, 98 P.3d 518 (2004) ("the opinion of a government official, especially a police officer, may influence a jury").

It is "clearly inappropriate" for witnesses to give opinions of their personal beliefs about the accused's guilt, his intent, or his

veracity. *Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d at 591. Such opinions are improper “whether direct or by inference.” *Id.* at 594.

Police officers may not offer expert opinions about scientific conclusions unless qualified by the court. ER 701; ER 702. Before any such opinion is offered, “certain procedures must be followed” to “lay the proper foundation for opinion testimony.” *Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d at 592. Under ER 702, a witness must be qualified as an expert by “knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education” before testifying to an opinion. Even an expert may not give an opinion on facts beyond her area of expertise. *State v. Hudson*, 150 Wn.App. 646, 654-55. 208 P.3d 1236 (2009).

In *Montgomery*, two defendants were charged with possession of pseudoephedrine with intent to manufacture methamphetamine. 163 Wn.2d at 583. A police officer testified that he “felt” the defendants were “buying ingredients to manufacture methamphetamine based on what they had purchased, the manner in which they had done it, going from different stores, going to different checkout lanes. I’d seen those actions several times before.” *Id.* at 588. A chemist similarly testified, without objection, that the “combined purchases” of the defendants “are all what lead me toward this pseudoephedrine is possessed with intent.”

Id. The court held this testimony was an improper opinion on the defendant's guilt. *Id.* at 594-95.

In *Demery*, the jury heard a recorded interview of a detective questioning the defendant. 144 Wn.2d at 757. The detective asked the defendant whether he was going to "stick with" his story, and said he should "start telling the truth." *Id.* at 756 & n.2. The defendant told the officers they were looking at him like they thought he was lying. An officer responded, "Cause you are." *Id.* at 756 n.2.

In a split ruling, five justices held that the officer's statement that he did not believe the defendant was telling the truth was inadmissible opinion evidence. 144 Wn.2d at 765 (Alexander, J., concurring); *Id.* at 769-70 (Sanders, J. dissenting).¹ They reasoned that when statements made during interrogation are offered into evidence,

¹ The four-justice "lead" opinion ruled that jurors understood the detectives' statements during interrogations were not offered as opinion evidence but as background. 144 Wn.2d at 760.

Concurring in the result, Justice Alexander agreed with the dissent that if an officer's opinion would be inadmissible as in-court testimony, it cannot be admitted simply because it was a statement made during interrogation. *Id.* at 765 (Alexander, J., concurring). However, he believed the erroneous opinion testimony was an insignificant part of the State's case. *Id.*

The four-justice dissent stated that opinions offered by police officers are inadmissible evidence, and this rule applies when made in a suspect's recorded interrogation. *Id.* at 700-72.

they must be admissible under the rules of evidence, including ER 803(a)'s prohibition on opinion testimony. *Id.*

The remaining four justices agreed that an officer's opinion about a case is unfairly prejudicial and irrelevant. *Id.* at 759 (Owens, J. plurality). If using an officer's statements to provide context for the defendant's responses, the court should give a limiting instruction to the jury, "explaining that only the defendant's responses and not the third party's statements, should be considered as evidence." *Id.* at 762.

In *State v. Dolan*, 118 Wn.App. 323, 329, 73 P.3d 1011 (2003), a father was charged with assaulting his child. The prosecutor asked a police officer whether "there was any indication" the mother could have caused the child's injuries. *Id.* at 328. The officer responded, "I don't believe so." *Id.* The prosecutor asked a Child Protective Services case worker why the mother was not required to leave the home and the witness responded that she "didn't feel the child was at risk with [the] mother and she wasn't really the person in question." *Id.* at 329.

This Court concluded that these witness' opinions were not based on personal or special knowledge and were inadmissible under ER 701 and ER 702. *Id.* In addition, their opinions whether the evidence implicated the child's mother "was up to the jury, not a

witness.” *Id.* These improper opinions were influential in the case because they were “expressed by a governmental official.” *Id.*

ii. *The court admitted improper opinion testimony from a police officer.*

Demery teaches that evidence offered in a recorded interview is no different than evidence offered by in-court testimony and comments made during interrogation are not exempt from the rules of evidence. 144 Wn.2d at 770 (Sanders, J. dissenting); 144 Wn.2d at 765 (Alexander, J., concurring). Here, the court’s instructions to the jury underscore this rule.

The court directed the jury to treat all evidence equally, including evidence from “witnesses, stipulations, and the exhibits that I have admitted during the trial.” CP 24 (Instruction 1). It instructed the jury that it “must consider all of the evidence that I have admitted” to decide whether a proposition has been proven. CP 25 (Instruction 1). It defined circumstantial evidence as evidence the jury “may reasonably infer” based on common sense and experience, and said this evidence is as valuable as direct evidence. CP 28 (Instruction 3).

The detective’s recorded interview was played for the jury and admitted as an exhibit. 10/10/13RP 103, 106-07; Ex. 100. The court’s

instructions required the jury to consider the detective's statements during the recorded interview for their truth, and draw any available inferences, when deciding whether Mr. Smith acted in justifiable self-defense. CP 24, 25, 28. The court refused Mr. Smith's request to instruct the jury not to consider the detective's statements during the recorded interview for their truth. 10/10/13RP 104-05.

During the portion of the interview admitted as Ex. 100, Detective Spencer gave a lengthy discourse on the properties of blood evidence. Ex. 100 at 8-15. He said he had researched and studied a lot about latent evidence, including blood evidence left at a crime scene. Ex. 100 at 7-8. His qualifications also included being a "weapons specialist" who did "a lot of firearms investigation" as well as being "trained and certified" as "a tactical tracker" keenly aware of "detail" that is critical to crime scene investigation. *Id.* Jurors generally assume an officer is reliable based on his training and experience, and here, Detective Spencer said in the recorded interview that he was a particularly qualified in crime scene investigation. *See Coffel v. Clallam Cnty.*, 58 Wn.App. 517, 523, 794 P.2d 513 (1990) ("Police officers are presumed to know the penal laws").

However, his discussion of blood evidence was not actually true, nor was he qualified to offer expert opinion on blood evidence.

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