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

III. Summary of Argument

None of the errors cited to by Mr. Smith occurred. First, 

the State never stopped Mr. Smith from presenting any defense

he wished. He chose to present his defense of self - defense with

PTSD. Mr. Smith never sought to present a diminished capacity

defense, instead choosing a straight justifiable homicide

defense. Further, he asked for and received a justifiable

homicide instruction which told the jury to look at the facts

from his perspective. 

Second, the tape of the interview between Detective

Spencer was reviewed by Mr. Smith and edits were made, but

Mr. Smith accepted the CD for presentation to the jury (Exhibit

100). There was no challenge to the CD before it was admitted

and played to the jury. After the CD was played, Mr. Smith

challenged a portion of the interview. The Court permitted Mr. 

Smith to examine Detective Spencer who admitted that some of

what he said about blood was " a ruse." There is no error. 

Third, sentencing is a matter of trial court discretion. 
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The Trial Court was under no obligation to accept anyone' s

request for a downward exceptional sentence. The record

shows the Court listened to all the reasons supporting a

downward exceptional sentence but determined, along with the

jury, that the cold - blooded shots to the head -- along with Mr. 

Smith' s failure to ever admit he killed a human being -- justified

a regular sentence at the low end. There is no error. 

IV. Argument

ISSUE ONE

When Mr. Smith elects with the assistance of able counsel to

rely on the defense of self - defense, when Mr. Smith is

permitted to testify to the events as he saw them, and when the
jury is provided an instruction that includes language that it
could take into consideration all the facts and circumstances as

they appeared to him, at the time of and prior to the incident, 
can it be said that Mr. Smith was denied his right to present his

own defense? 

Standard of Review: Issues raised for the first time on appeal

are generally not reviewed by the appellate court. RAP 2.5 ( a); 

State v. Gray, 134 Wn.App. 547, 557, 138 P.3d 1 123 ( 2006), 

review denied, 160 Wn.2d 1008 ( 2007). 
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Analysis: Prior to presentation of evidence, the State asked

Mr. Smith whether he was bringing an expert witness

9/ 19/ 2011 RP 57). Mr. Smith answered that he was not, so

long as the State did not challenge that he had been diagnosed

with PTSD ( 9/ 19/ 2011 RP 58). The State agreed it would not

challenge his PTSD but then reminded Mr. Smith that the

defense of self - defense was based on a " reasonable person" 

standard ( 9/ 19/2011 RP 59). Mr. Smith agreed, and stated that

he would be relying on self-defense, stating "[ hie suffers from

it, that' s who he is and that' s for the jury to determine whether

it' s relevant or not and who he is, what he saw" ( 9/ 19/ 2011 RP

59). 

At the conclusion of the trial, Mr. Smith asked for and

received a jury instruction on justifiable homicide ( Instruction

13, CP 38). 

In short, Mr. Smith was permitted to try the case as he

wanted, presenting his PTSD as part of how he viewed Mr. 

Fowler' s alleged behavior, " taking into consideration all the
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facts and circumstances as they appeared to him, at the time of

and prior to the incident." ( Instruction 13, CP 38). No one

attempted to tell Mr. Smith how to present his defense. He

chose his own defense as required in State v. Lynch, 178 Wn.2d

487, 309 P.3d 482 ( 2013). 

ISSUE TWO

When Mr. Smith had the opportunity to ask for redaction of
Detective Spencer' s interview with him but did not, but was

instead permitted to cross examine Detective Spencer about the

testimony he felt was inappropriate, and when the detective

admits he was employing a ruse, can it said that this

unchallenged admission of evidence was of any importance at
all? 

Standard of Review: An issue not raised below is generally

waived on appeal. RAP 2.5 ( a); State v. Gray, supra. 

Analysis: This evidentiary issue was not raised until after the

redacted CD was played for the jury. Detective Spencer' s

interview, on CD and transcribed ( listening aid that did not go

to the jury room) was admitted as exhibit 99 and 100 with no

objection from Mr. Smith (Ex. 99, 10/ 9/ 2011 RP 102). 

After the CD was played for the jury, Mr. Smith objected
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to Detective Spencer' s testimony about blood composition

10/ 9/2013 RP 104). The State pointed out that Mr. Smith had

not asked that this portion of the CD be redacted ( 10/ 9/ 2013 RP

105). The Court refused to give Mr. Smith a limiting instruction

but stated that he could properly cross exam Detective Spencer

about whether he is a blood expert ( 10/ 9/2013 RP 105). 

Mr. Smith argues that admission of some of Detective

Spencer' s testimony about blood denied him " a fair trial." Mr. 

Smith accused Detective Spencer of lying to Mr. Smith to

obtain a confession, just like a television show entitled " The

Closer" ( 10/ 10/ 2013 RP 16- 17). Detective Spencer admitted

that some of his discussion with Mr. Smith was " a ruse" 

10/ 10/ 2013 RP 17). The jury was clearly advised to be wary

about accepting Detective Spencer' s blood analysis. In light of

the admission of Mr. Smith that he fired two shots into the head

of Mr. Fowler as Mr. Fowler lay mortally wounded on the

floor, any error would be harmless. 
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ISSUE THREE

When the record reflects that the Trial Court accepted and

reviewed numerous documents requesting a downward

exception, including the PSI, and was aware of its authority to
grant a downward exception but chose to impose a low end

standard sentence because ( a) Mr. Smith shot a mortally
wounded person in the head and ( b) Mr. Smith never

acknowledged that he had killed a human being, is there any
question that the sentence is appropriately entered? 

Standard of Review: A sentencing court abuses it discretion

when it " categorically refuses" to exercise sentencing

discretion. State v. Grayson, 154 Wn.2d 333, 341 -42, 111 P. 3d

1183 ( 2005). 

Analysis: There is nothing wrong with sentencing a person to a

standard range sentence. A standard range sentence is the law

unless " substantial and compelling reasons justifying an

exceptional sentence." RCW 9. 94A.535. The Court would have

to find extensive " substantial and compelling reasons" in this

trial record to impose an exceptional sentence downward for a

person who admitted he put two more . 45 slugs in the victim' s

head, merely because he would not quit moving. 
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The record shows that the Court received an exceptional

outpouring of support for Mr. Smith ( 1/ 14/ 14/ RP 26 -36), 

including numerous letters of support, but the Trial Court

summed the sentencing issue up when it stated " he died

unnecessarily at the hand of Mr. Smith and I believe this is

what the jury, was behind what the jury' s verdict was all about

and there certainly was evidence to support their verdict. Mr. 

Smith, by his own admission testified that he came up to Mr. 

Fowler, while Mr. Fowler was lying wounded on the ground

and methodically put two bullets in his head. There was no

threat at that point." ( 1/ 14/ 14/ RP 36 -37). The Court also took

umbrage at Mr. Smith' s refusal to acknowledge that he had

killed a person: 

Mr. Smith, I don' t know if you understand how harsh that

language sounds and I found it interesting that at trial you never
referred to Mr. Fowler' s life as terminating. The only thing you
said was, " My only intent was to eliminate the threat," not a life. 

So regardless, the jury didn' t buy that and I think that probably
alienated the jury to some degree when you use that kind of
language to justify what you did, but regardless, it wasn' t up to Mr. 
Smith. 

1/ 14/ 14 RP 39). 
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This record shows the Court exercised discretion in

choosing a sentence for Mr. Smith. Based on all the support Mr. 

Smith had and his lack of criminal history, the Court set the

sentence at the low end ( 1 / 14 /14 RP 40). 

Mr. Smith is arguing the Court abused its discretion

because it relied on the jury verdict as a basis for its decision. 

That is not the test. The test is whether the trial court exercised

discretion. State v. Grayson, supra. Had the trial court

categorically refused to exercise discretion, one can argue there

may be error. But, when the Court listened to the requests for a

lower sentence and then based its decision on the admissions of

the defendant, the cold blooded manner in which Mr. Smith

testified about the two shots to the head, and the jury verdict, 

there is no error. 

CONCLUSION

When it' s all said and done, the two questions that must

be addressed are whether the record contains substantial
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evidence to support each element of the crime charged, State v. 

Athan, 160 Wn.2d 354, 378, n. 5, 158 P. 3d 27 ( 2007), and

whether the defendant received a trial with no prejudicial errors. 

See, e.g. State v. Martines, Wn.App. , 331 P.3d 105

2014) ( constitutional error in admission of evidence is

presumed prejudicial); but see also State v. Hudlow, 

Wn.App. , 331 P.3d 90 ( 2014 ( even constitutional error can

be harmless if the evidence is so overwhelming that it

necessarily leads to a finding of guilt). In this case, the jury

most likely determined that the final two shots to the victim' s

head were unnecessary for self defense. The jury' s

determination would have been made on Mr. Smith' s

testimony. Mr. Smith' s conviction and sentence should be

affirmed.